RECEIVED 09-15-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2009AP3073- CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

MICHAEL R. GRIEP,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WINNEBAGO COUNTY, THE HON. THOMAS J. GRITTON, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX
OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER.

Tricia J. Bushnell, State Bar No. 1080889 605 West 47th Street, Suite 222 Kansas City, MO 64112 (816) 221-2166 tbushnell@themip.org

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS2
ARGUMENT
I. Bullcoming v. New Mexico Compels Confrontation of the Analyst in Griep's Case
A. The Kalscheuer report was testimonial 11
B. The contents of the report were introduced for the truth of the matter asserted
II. The Decisions in <i>Williams v. Illinois</i> and <i>State v. Deadwiller</i> Do Not Control.19
III. Even Under <i>Williams v. Illinois</i> and <i>State v.</i> Deadwiller, Confrontation of the Performing Analyst is Required
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATIONS31

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES
Berwind Corp. v. Comm'r of Soc. Sec. , 307 F.3d 222 (3d Cir. 2002)25
Bullcoming v. New Mexico , 131 S. Ct. 2705, 180 L. Ed. 2d 610 (2011)passim
<i>Crawford v. Washington</i> , 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004)
Davis v. Washington , 547 U.S. 813, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006)
<i>Martin v. State</i> , 60 A.3d 1100 (Del. 2013)29, 30
<i>Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts</i> , 557 U.S. 305, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009)passim
<i>Michigan v. Bryant</i> , 131 S. Ct. 1143, 179 L. Ed. 2d 93 (2011)11
People v. Dungo, 286 P.3d 442, 147 Cal. Rprtr. 3d 527, 55 Cal. 4th 608 (Cal. 2012)
State v. Ballos, 230 Wis. 2d 495, 602 N.W.2d 117 (Ct. App. 1999)9
State v. Barton , 2006 WI App 18, 289 Wis. 2d 206, 709 N.W.2d 93passim

State v. Deadwiller,
2013 WI 75, 350 Wis. 2d 138,
834 N.W.2d 362passim
State v. Griep,
No. 2009 AP 3073-CR
(Wis. Ct. App. Feb 19, 2014)
State v. Jennings,
2002 WI 44, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 1429
State v. Navarette,
294 P.3d 435 (N.M. 2013)29
State v. Williams,
2002 WI 58, 253 Wis. 2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919passim
Tennessee v. Street,
471 U.S. 409, 105 S. Ct. 2078,
85 L. Ed.2d 425 (1985)
United States v. Turner,
709 F.3d 1187 (7 th Cir. 2013)13
Williams v. Illinois,
132 S. Ct. 2221, 183 L. Ed. 2d 89 (2012)passim
Young v. United States,
63 A.3d 1033 (D.C. 2013)28
OTHER AUTHORITIES
The Writing Center, Scientific Reports,
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, available
at http://writingcenter.unc.edu/handouts/24

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Does the Confrontation Clause prohibit a surrogate witness, who merely reviewed a nontestifying forensic analyst's certified report, notes, and results and did not personally conduct or observe any of the relevant analyses, from testifying regarding the substance of the report?

The court of appeals answered <u>NO</u> after certifying the question to this Court, which denied review. Upon return, the court of appeals found the error would not be harmless, but nonetheless affirmed the conviction, noting that because "the law is not clear, [] we must adhere to our binding state court precedents." App. A, *State v. Griep*, No. 2009 AP 3073-CR, ¶3 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb 19, 2014).

The trial court answered NO, ruling that under *State v. Barton*, 2006 WI App 18, 289 Wis. 2d 206, 709 N.W.2d 93, and *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 58, 253 Wis. 2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919, the surrogate expert could not "act as a mere conduit" for another's opinions, but could rely "on things that normally they would use to reach or render an opinion" and permitted the testimony of the surrogate.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court's grant of review reflects that both oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Facts and Proceedings Leading to Griep's Conviction

On August 25, 2007, Michael Griep was arrested under suspicion of Operating While Intoxicated (38:7-15). Griep consented to providing a blood sample, which was analyzed by Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene Analyst Diane Kalscheur (38:17). In her report dated August 31, 2007, Analyst Kalscheur reported that she received Griep's labeled and sealed blood sample, that Griep's blood was tested for ethanol, and that testing revealed a certain ethanol concentration (App. E). The report regarding Kalscheur's observations about Griep's blood and the testing performed were certified as true and correct by Laboratory of Hygiene Chemist, Thomas Ecker (App. E). Both Kalscheur and Ecker signed multiple sections of the report and associated documentation (App. E).

At Griep's bench trial, Analyst Kalscheur was not available to testify regarding her test or report (38:5-6). Her supervisor, Patrick Harding, was called in her stead to testify that Griep's blood contained a prohibited ethanol concentration (App. F; 38:26-31). Harding had never observed Griep's blood samples, the testing of Griep's blood samples, or any part of Kalscheur's analysis (App. F; 38:46-47). He was unable to answer questions about the integrity of the samples or the testing process in Griep's case (App. F; 38:46-47). Harding nonetheless testified that Griep's blood contained a prohibited ethanol concentration (App. F; 38:31). He based his testimony on Kalscheur's statements in her report and the supporting data she produced, relying in

particular on Kalscheur's statements that the blood was tested for ethanol and that the blood came from Griep (App. F; 38:27-28, 30). Laboratory of Hygiene Chemist Thomas Ecker was not called as a witness. The written report itself was never admitted (39:5). Defense counsel objected to the admission of Harding's testimony regarding the substance of the report on Confrontation Clause grounds, but the objection was overruled (App. F; 38:28-30; 39:6-7).

Griep was convicted of both Operating While Intoxicated and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration on July 28, 2009. The court stated that its decision was based at least in part on Harding's testimony (App. D; 39:18-19).

Legal Developments During Griep's Appeal

Griep appealed his conviction to the court of appeals in 2010, stating his right to confront the testing analyst had been violated. During that appeal, the United States Supreme Court accepted a petition in *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, 131 S. Ct. 62 (2010) (granting certiorari). The question presented in **Bullcoming** was "[w]hether the Confrontation Clause permits the prosecution to introduce testimonial statements of a nontestifying forensic analyst through the in-court testimony of a supervisor or other person who did not perform or observe the laboratory analysis described in the statements." Petition for Writ of Certiorari at i, Bullcoming v. New *Mexico*, No. 09-10876, 2010 WL 3761875. In *Bullcoming*, like in Griep's case, the defendant was arrested on charges of driving while intoxicated and his blood drawn and tested to determine his blood-alcohol concentration. Like in Griep's case, an analyst tested the blood and signed a certified report, but did not testify at trial. Instead, in both cases, the evidence was admitted through the testimony of a surrogate witness. Unlike Griep's case, however, the State in **Bullcoming** sought to introduce the certified report into evidence. Because the

question presented in *Bullcoming* was similar to the question in Griep's appeal, the court of appeals held the case in abeyance pending the United States Supreme Court's decision. That opinion, which found surrogate testimony could not satisfy the confrontation clause for purposes of introducing the report, was delivered in 2011. *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, 131 S. Ct. 2705, 180 L. Ed. 2d 610 (2011).

Shortly thereafter, the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari in Williams v. Illinois, 131 S. Ct. 3090 (2011) (granting certiorari), which addressed the question of "[w]hether a state rule of evidence allowing an expert witness to testify about the results of DNA testing performed by nontestifying analysts, where the defendant has no opportunity to confront the actual analysts, violates the Confrontation Clause." Petition for a Writ of Certiorari at i, Williams v. *Illinois*, No. 10-8505, 2010 WL 6817830. In *Williams*, the state introduced independent opinion testimony from a state forensic analyst based in part upon DNA testing performed on crime scene evidence by a non-testifying analyst at an out-ofstate private lab. 132 S. Ct. 2221, 183 L. Ed. 2d 89 (2012). There, the state analyst testified that she compared the DNA profile developed by the non-testifying out-of-state analyst with the profile of the defendant developed by the in-state lab and concluded the two profiles matched. Id. Again, the court of appeals held Griep's case in abeyance pending the United State Supreme Court's decision in *Williams*.

In 2012, a four-member plurality of the court in *Williams*, along with Justice Thomas, who concurred in the judgment only, decided that the portions of an out-of-state report referenced by the testifying state analyst in forming her own independent opinion were not subject to the Confrontation Clause. The Court was sharply split, however, as to rationale. In his concurrence, Justice Thomas agreed with the plurality that the report was not subject to the Confrontation Clause, but reached this conclusion on far

narrower grounds, finding that the form of the report was not sufficiently solemn or formalized to qualify as a testimonial statement. *Williams*, 132 S. Ct. at 2259-60 (Thomas, J., concurring). In particular, Thomas stressed that the report was not sworn or certified. *Id.* at 2260 (Thomas, J., concurring).

Upon delivery of the *Williams* opinion, the court of appeals requested supplemental briefing from the parties "addressing Bullcoming, Williams v. Illinois, and State v. **Barton**, and other issues as contemplated by our September 29 order." Order, *State v. Griep*, No. 2009AP3073, 2007CT1130 (September 28, 2012). In his supplemental brief, Griep argued that the decisions in Wisconsin cases State v. Barton, 2006 WI App 18, 289 Wis. 2d 206, 709 N.W.2d 93, and *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 58, 253 Wis. 2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919, were overruled by the United States Supreme Court's decision in Bullcoming "to the extent that those cases allowed the admission of out-of-court testimonial statements through expert testimony": Bullcoming clearly held the admission of a certified report from a test of a defendant's blood alcohol concentration violated the confrontation clause when the analyst who conducted the testing was unavailable at trial and the testifying expert had not conducted or observed any of the actual testing. Supp. Br. of Def.-App. at 9-11. Griep argued that because of the fragmented nature of the Williams decision, Justice Thomas's concurrence controlled because he concurred in the judgment on narrower grounds than the four-member plurality. *Id.* In his concurrence, Justice Thomas found that the underlying DNA report was not testimonial because it was not sufficiently solemn or formalized, and thus, Griep argued, the judgment in **Bullcoming** still stands. *Id*. The State also relied on the plurality decision in its brief, but asserted that "[n]othing in the judgment of Williams indicates that the [United States Supreme Court's] decision overrules . . . Barton." Supp. Br. of Pl.-Resp. at 17. Instead, the State

argued that the key takeaway from Thomas concurrence was that the report was not "testimonial" and thus the only "rationale" that can be followed was the judgment that the surrogate witness's testimony was admissible. *Id.* at 16-17.

Because of the fractured opinions of the *Williams* decision, and the importance of its application to cases in Wisconsin, the court of appeals certified the case to this Court, asking the following questions about the new United States Supreme Court precedent:

Do these cases mean that the testing analyst produced a report for the truth of the matter asserted such that the confrontation clause is violated if he or she is not available? One can read *Bullcoming* to say so. Or is the testing analyst's report just that—a report—something that is not, by itself, made for the truth of the matter asserted but rather part of the information that a testifying expert uses to form his or her own opinion, which opinion is subject to cross-examination? One can read *Williams* to mean that.

... The trial courts, and this court, would benefit from the direction of our supreme court in answering the questions poised in the preceding paragraph. The facts here are markedly different than in the DNA cases but are similar to many, many OWI cases that fill the dockets in this state.

App. C, Certification by Wis. Ct. App., *State v. Griep*, No. 2009 AP 3073-CR (Wis. Ct. App. May 15, 2013). This Court subsequently issued its opinion in *State v. Deadwiller*, 2013 WI 75, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362, two months later on July 16, 2013. In *Deadwiller*, this Court applied the rationale in *Williams* to a similar set of facts, and held that a surrogate analysts independent opinion testimony based in part by a DNA report created by an out of state lab did not trigger the defendant's right to confrontation. *Id*.

This Court subsequently denied certification in Griep's case on November 20, 2013. App. B, Order Denying Certification, *State v. Griep*, No. 2009 AP 3073-CR (Wis. Nov. 20, 2013). Upon return to the court of appeals, the court affirmed Griep's conviction, stating that while there was merit to the argument that the report created in Griep's case was testimonial and that such error would not be harmless, because "our [state] supreme court so recently and favorably cit[ed] *Barton*, *see* [*State v.*] *Deadwiller*, 350, Wis. 2d 138 37-40, we have no choice but to conclude that *Barton* remains the law of our state. Only the state supreme court has the power to overrule our past decisions." App. A, *State v. Griep*, No. 2009 AP 3073-CR at ¶22 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb 19, 2014).

Griep petitioned this Court for review, which this Court subsequently granted.

ARGUMENT

When the State seeks to admit the substance of a certified, out-of-court forensic report against the defendant, like the blood alcohol content results listed in the ethanol report here, the State must allow the defendant to confront the author of the report at trial. Such certified statements, made specifically to build the State's case against a targeted suspect, have triggered the defendant's Confrontation Clause rights since the United States Supreme Court decided Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). Since *Crawford*, subsequent federal and state case law has made clear that such formalized declarations amount to testimony against the defendant and therefore exemplify the class of statements that triggers the right to defendant's confrontation under the Amendment, and Article I, §7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. See Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009); Bullcoming v. New *Mexico*, 131 S. Ct. 2705, 180 L. Ed. 2d 610 (2011); *State v. Deadwiller*, 2013 WI 75, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362.

The certified statements in Analyst Kalscheur's report regarding the source of the blood and the testing performed were improperly admitted in violation of the Confrontation Clause specifically because they were: 1) testimonial, and 2) introduced for the truth of the matter they asserted. Under *Crawford*, the Confrontation Clause specifically prohibits out-of-court testimonial statements introduced to establish the truth of the matter asserted unless the witness appears at trial or the defendant had a prior opportunity for cross-examination. 541 U.S. at 53-54, 59-60, n.9 (citing *Tennessee v. Street*, 471 U.S. 409, 105 S. Ct. 2078, 85 L. Ed.2d 425 (1985)).

Here, Griep was improperly denied his right to confrontation when the contents of a testimonial, out-of-court ethanol report were introduced through a surrogate witness with no personal knowledge as to the substance or creation of its contents. The court of appeals erred when it found that this Court's opinions in *State v. Deadwiller*, 2013 WI 75, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362, and *State v. Barton*, 2006 WI App 18, 289 Wis. 2d 206, 709 N.W.2d 93 controlled, rather than the United States Supreme Court's decision in Bullcoming vs. New Mexico. App. A, State v. Griep, No. 2009 AP 3073-CR at ¶22 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb 19, 2014). In deciding **Deadwiller**, this Court did not address the issue presented in Griep—whether a surrogate analyst may testify solely about the contents of a certified report containing the results of testing conducted by another analyst—but rather solidified Wisconsin case law surrounding independent expert opinion testimony following the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Williams v. Illinois*, 132 S. Ct. 2221, 183 L. Ed. 2d 89 (2012). Because *Deadwiller* and *Williams* do not address the issue present in this case, the court of appeals and

this Court are bound to follow the United States Supreme Court's rationale in *Bullcoming*.

Moreover, the court of appeal's decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v. Jennings*, which finds that the Supremacy Clause "compels adherence to the United States Supreme Court precedent on matters of federal law, although it means deviating from a conflicting decision from the Wisconsin Supreme Court." 2002 WI 44, ¶43, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142. In the instant case, the court of appeals found that because of a circuit split regarding the application of *Williams*, the federal law is "unclear" in this area, and as a result, it must follow this Court's precedent in *Barton*. This conflicts with *Jennings*: The language of *Bullcoming* is clear, and to the extent that the scope of *Williams* is unclear, it does not overturn the settled federal precedent. Because *Bullcoming* is clear federal precedent, the court was compelled to follow it.

The question of whether the admission of evidence violates a defendant's right to confrontation is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Ballos*, 230 Wis. 2d 495, 504, 602 N.W.2d 117 (Ct. App. 1999).

I. Bullcoming v. New Mexico Compels Confrontation of the Analyst in Griep's Case.

At its core, this case is a straightforward application of *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, 131 S. Ct. 2705, 180 L. Ed. 2d 610 (2011). Indeed, in its decision, the court of appeals acknowledged that "Griep makes a good argument when he asserts that the surrogate expert testimony in this case was a subterfuge for admitting an unavailable expert's report in violation of *Bullcoming v. New Mexico* and *Williams v. Illinois*." App. A, *Griep*, No. 2009 AP 3073-CR at ¶2 (internal citations omitted). The court of appeals nonetheless found that Griep's right to confrontation was not violated

when the State presented the contents of Kalscheur's certified report through the use of surrogate witness Patrick Harding. *Id.* This decision conflicts with the clear federal precedent set by the United States Supreme Court in *Bullcoming*.

In **Bullcoming**, the United States Supreme Court held that the use of a surrogate witness's testimony to admit a certified forensic report violated the Confrontation Clause in an OWI case. 131 S. Ct. at 2705. At trial, the principal evidence used against defendant Donald Bullcoming was "a forensic laboratory report certifying that Bullcoming's bloodalcohol concentration was well above the threshold for aggravated DWI." Id. at 2709. As in Griep's case, the prosecution did not call the analyst who performed or signed the certifications at trial, but instead called another analyst "who was familiar with the laboratory's testing procedures, but had neither participated in nor observed the test on Bullcoming's blood sample." Id. The United States Supreme Court found that the admission of the report's content through the testimony of a surrogate analyst, even one from the same lab, who did not observe the testing conducted, violated the Confrontation clause and that the live testimony of the authoring analyst was required for admission of the reports. *Id.* ("The accused's right is to be confronted with the analyst who made the certification, unless that analyst is unavailable at trial, and the accused had an opportunity, pretrial, to crossexaimine that particular scientist."); see also Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. 305, 329, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009).

In reaching this decision, the Court found that confrontation was required because the underlying report was testimonial, and introduced for the truth of the matter asserted. *Bullcoming*, 131 S. Ct. at 2705. Because the facts of Griep's case mirrors those of *Bullcoming*, the underlying analysis compels the same outcome—that this Court find that confrontation is required and overturn Griep's conviction.

A. The Kalscheuer report was testimonial

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