RECEIVED

10-17-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COUR PF WISCONSIN

No. 2009AP3073-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL R. GRIEP,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WINNEBAGO COUNTY, THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. GRITTON, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

In *Barton*, a lab analyst at the crime lab tested materials taken from a residence that had started on fire. The tests revealed the presence of ignitable liquid and gasoline-like substances. *Barton*, 289 Wis. 2d 206, \P 3.

The analyst was unavailable to testify at trial. *Id.* ¶ 4. Instead, a "technical unit leader at the crime lab" testified. Id. ¶ 4. The technical unit leader "had performed a peer review of [the analyst's] tests, and presented his own conclusions regarding the tests to the jury." Id.

The technical unit leader testified that in his independent expert opinion, two of the items submitted for testing "had ignitable liquid residues consistent with a weathered gasoline sample," and a third item "contained a 'mid-range petroleum distillate' similar to lighter fluid or mineral spirits." *Id.* ¶¶ 14-15. He also testified that he had examined "photocopies of three chromatograms of unleaded gasoline in different stages of evaporation," and, using those chromatograms, concluded that gasoline was present in the tested samples. *Id.* ¶ 15.

The State did not offer into evidence the lab reports, which detailed the test results. *Id.* \P 4.

The court of appeals concluded that the witness's testimony did not violate Barton's right to confrontation. The court explained that the testifying witness "was a highly qualified expert presenting his independent opinion." Id. ¶ 13. The court added that the witness "presented to the jury the uniform procedures the crime lab employed to test for ignitable fluids," and "stated that, based on his review of the case file, [the analyst] had followed these procedures in his tests." Id. ¶ 14. The witness further testified that he had conducted a peer review of the analyst's work, and he gave his independent expert opinion based on the data he analyzed. Id.

The court of appeals concluded that this court's holding in *Williams* remained good law after *Crawford*, stating:

Williams is clear: A defendant's confrontation right is satisfied if a qualified expert testifies as to his or her independent opinion, even if the opinion is based in part on the work of another. We do not see, and Barton fails to explain, how *Crawford* prevents a qualified expert from testifying in place of an unavailable expert when the testifying expert presents his or her own opinion.

Id. \P 20 (citation omitted).

The United States Supreme Court has subsequently issued three opinions addressing the parameters of the Confrontation Clause in cases involving laboratory reports. *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. 305 (2009), was a drug case in which the prosecution introduced into evidence notarized certificates—rather than live testimony—by state laboratory analysts to prove that material seized from the defendant was cocaine. The Supreme Court held that

a forensic laboratory report stating that a suspect substance was cocaine ranked as testimonial for purposes of the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause. The report had been created specifically to serve as evidence in a criminal proceeding. Absent stipulation, the Court ruled, the prosecution may not introduce such a report without offering a live witness competent to testify to the truth of the statements made in the report.

Bullcoming, 131 S. Ct. at 2709 (citing Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. 305).

In 2011, the United States Supreme Court decided another case concerning the admission of a laboratory report, *Bullcoming*, 131 S. Ct. 2705, in which:

The question presented is whether the Confrontation Clause permits the prosecution to introduce a forensic laboratory report containing a testimonial certification—made for the purpose of proving a particular fact—through the in-court testimony of a scientist who did not sign the certification or perform or observe the test reported in the certification.

Id. at 2710.

The Supreme Court held that "surrogate testimony of that order does not meet the constitutional requirement. The accused's right is to be confronted with the analyst who made the certification, unless that analyst is unavailable at trial, and the accused had an opportunity, pretrial, to cross-examine that particular scientist." *Id.*

In 2012 the Supreme Court issued an opinion in *Williams v. Illinois*, 132 S. Ct. 2221 (2012). The Court set forth the issue as follows:

In this case, we decide whether *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 50 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004), precludes an expert witness from testifying in a manner that has long been allowed under the law of evidence. Specifically, does *Crawford* bar an expert from expressing an opinion based on facts about a case that have been made

known to the expert but about which the expert is not competent to testify?

Williams, 132 S. Ct. at 2227. The Court added that the issue it addressed was "the constitutionality of allowing an expert witness to discuss others' testimonial statements if the testimonial statements were not themselves admitted as evidence." *Id.* at 2233 (quoting *Bullcoming*, 131 S. Ct. at 2722 (Sotomayor, J., concurring)).

The Supreme Court produced four separate opinions, none of which secured a five-vote majority. However, in two opinions, five justices voted to uphold the defendant's conviction. *See Williams*, 132 S. Ct. at 2244 (Alito, J., joined by Roberts, C.J., Kennedy, J., and Breyer, J.); *id.* at 2255 (Thomas, J., concurring). For different reasons, these justices agreed that a DNA profile report prepared by a private out-of-state laboratory was not testimonial under the Confrontation Clause. *See id.* at 2243-44 (Alito, J.); *id.* at 2259-60 (Thomas, J., concurring).

In *Deadwiller*, this court applied *Williams v. Illinois* in deciding a "factually similar" case. *Deadwiller*, 350 Wis. 2d 138, ¶ 21. This court noted that "When a fragmented Court decides a case and no single rationale explaining the result enjoys the assent of five Justices, the holding of the Court may be viewed as that position taken by those Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds." *Id.* ¶ 30 (citing *Marks v. United States*, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977)). The court also noted that "If no theoretical overlap exists between the rationales employed by the plurality and the concurrence, 'the only binding aspect of the fragmented decision . . . is its "specific result."" *Id.* (quoting *Berwind Corp. v. Comm'r of Soc. Sec.*, 307 F.3d 222, 234 (3d Cir. 2002)).

This court concluded that "the opinions of Justice Alito and Justice Thomas in *Williams* have no theoretical overlap," but applied the decision "because Deadwiller and Williams are in substantially identical positions." *Id.* \P 32. This court concluded that, like in *Williams v.*

Illinois, the testimony at issue did not violate the defendant's right to confrontation. *Id*. ¶ 36.

This court explained in *Deadwiller* that its decision was consistent with *State v. Williams* and *Barton*, and that the expert testimony in *Deadwiller*, "was similar to that of the testifying analyst in *State v. Williams* and *Barton*." *Id.* ¶ 40. The court explained that witness, Ronald Witucki, was a highly qualified expert, and that:

When the victims' swabs first came in, Witucki confirmed the presence of semen. Once Witucki received Orchid's DNA profile, he reviewed the profile to make sure that Orchid followed its procedures and quality control measures and that it obtained acceptable results. Witucki also evaluated the profile to make sure it was of sufficient quality to enter into the DNA database. After the computer showed a match between Deadwiller and the Orchid DNA profiles, Witucki obtained a buccal swab from Deadwiller, developed a DNA profile from that swab, and reconfirmed that Deadwiller was a match. Thus, Witucki was not merely a conduit for Orchid's DNA profiles, but he independently concluded that Deadwiller was a match to Orchid's DNA profiles. See State v. Williams, 253 Wis. 2d 99, ¶ 20, 644 N.W.2d 919. Therefore, Witucki's testimony was sufficient to protect Deadwiller's right to confrontation.

Id.

B. The admission of an expert's independent opinion of the alcohol concentration of Griep's blood sample was proper under *State v. Williams* and *State v. Barton*.

A sample of Griep's blood was tested by Diane Kalscheur, a laboratory analyst at the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene (2:6). Kalscheur prepared a report that included the result of the ethanol test she conducted (20:Exh. 2). An advanced chemist at the lab, Thomas

Ecker, peer reviewed Kalscheur's work, and certified the report (20:Exh. 2).

Kalscheur was unavailable to testify at trial (38:5). The State did not present her testimony or introduce the report she had prepared. Instead, at Griep's bench trial, the State called Patrick Harding as an expert witness (38:26). Harding, the section chief of the toxicology section of the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, testified that he had peer reviewed Kalscheur's work, and examined the chromatograms and data produced by the blood test, and the paperwork associated with the tests Kalscheur had run on multiple samples on August 30, 2007 (38:26-27). The prosecutor asked Harding, "Was the blood sample run through your instrumentation in a way that comported with the regulations for the Lab of Hygiene?" (38:28). Griep's counsel objected on Confrontation Clause grounds, and the court overruled the objection, noting that "as long as they put enough information in to comply with what is required in the Barton and Williams cases, it's going to be allowed in" (38:29).

The following exchange then occurred between the prosecutor and Harding:

- Q Okay. Let's see, Mr. Harding, I think my last question was the blood sample that was submitted to the Lab of Hygiene that pertained to Mr. Griep run through your instrumentation in the manner that comported with the rules and regulations of the Lab of Hygiene?
- A The procedures, all indications are that the procedures were followed, the instrument was operating properly, properly calibrated. The calibration checks that are analyzed throughout the course of the analytical run read correctly, specifically and importantly, the two known samples that bracketed Mr. Griep's sample read within their accepted range. There was nothing unusual about the chromatograms, the output of the

instrument related to this or any other samples in that run, so I guess the short answer is, yes, it was run correctly.

- Q And running the sample correctly through your instruments, does that result in a blood alcohol reading which is, in your expert opinion, reliable?
- A Yes.
- Q Reviewing the data that you reviewed did you come to an independent opinion about what the blood alcohol content was of the sample that was shipped to the Lab of Hygiene under Mr. Griep's name?
- A Yes.
- Q And what is that opinion?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: And same objection.

[THE COURT]: It will be noted.

- A The opinion is that the alcohol concentration of Mr. Griep's sample was 0.152 grams of ethanol per 100 milliliters of blood.
- Q And that is your independent opinion?
- A Yes.

(38:30-31.)

At the close of the evidentiary portion of the trial, the parties presented argument regarding Griep's Confrontation Clause objection, and the court informed the parties that it would decide the issue and render a verdict, at a later hearing (38:56-64).

At the subsequent hearing, the court relied on *State* v. *Williams* in denying Griep's Confrontation Clause challenge. The court noted that under *Williams*, an expert can testify about a report made by another person if he or

she gives an independent opinion (39:3). The court concluded that Harding is qualified to give an expert opinion, and that he "testified in regards to his review of information, the protocol of the hygiene laboratory, and his review of . . . the information that was provided in his review of [Kalscheur's] records (39:3-4). The court noted that the lab report was not entered into evidence in (39:5), and that Griep "has the opportunity to cross-examine the expert who is rendering an independent decision" (39:6). The court added:

And it's always been the law in the State of Wisconsin, and I don't think it is any different in the Supreme Court, that an expert can [rely] on things that normally they would use to reach or render an opinion; and if we move away from that, I think the Williams case quite frankly is still good law even after Melendez-Diaz. . . . But when there is the opportunity to cross-examine a person based upon the opinion that they are rendering in this case I think the confrontation clause has been met The defendant had the right to confront the person giving his expert opinion and I do think it was an independent decision and I don't think he was strictly being used as a conduit to get the report in which wasn't accepted anyways.

(39:6-7). The court therefore denied Griep's motion, and considered Harding's testimony in finding Griep guilty of OWI and PAC (39:7, 18).

The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision, relying primarily on *Barton*, which had relied heavily on *State v. Williams*. The court noted that "Under the reasoning of *Barton*, the availability of a well qualified expert, testifying as to his independent conclusion about the ethanol testing of Griep's blood as evidenced by a report from another state lab analyst, was sufficient to protect Griep's right to confrontation." *Griep*, 353 Wis. 2d 252, ¶ 22.

The court noted that "Griep argued in his supplemental briefing that *Barton* was overruled by

Williams v. Illinois, because 'five justices . . . explicitly found that the substance of the [underlying] report as introduced through the surrogate witness was offered for the truth of the matter asserted." Id. ¶ 13.

The court of appeals rejected Griep's argument, concluding that no binding federal precedent had overruled *Barton* or *State v. Williams. Id.* ¶ 14. The court also noted that this court cited *Barton* favorably in its opinion in *Deadwiller. Id.* ¶ 22 (citing *Deadwiller*, 350 Wis. 2d 138, ¶¶ 37-40). The court of appeals therefore concluded that *Barton* remains good law. *Id.*

C. Griep does not argue that *State v. Williams* and *State v. Barton* have been overruled, or ask this court to overrule them.

The court of appeals relied on *State v. Williams* and *Barton*, and concluded that no binding federal precedent has overruled either case. *Griep*, 353 Wis. 2d 252, ¶ 14.

Now, in his brief to this court, Griep does not ask this court to overrule *State v. Williams* or *Barton*, or assert that they have been overruled, or are incorrect in any respect.

In his brief to this court, Griep asserts that the court of appeals incorrectly relied on *Barton* (Griep's Br. at 8), and that "At its core, this case is a straightforward application of *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*" (Griep's Br. at 9). He further asserts that in his supplemental brief to the court of appeals, he "argued that the decisions in Wisconsin cases *State v. Barton* . . . and *State v. Williams* . . . were overruled by the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Bullcoming* 'to the extent that those cases allowed the admission of out-of-court testimonial statements through expert testimony" (Griep's Br. at 5) (citing *Bullcoming*, 131 S. Ct. 2705).

Griep's assertions are puzzling, because in the court of appeals he did not argue that this is a Bullcoming case, or that Barton and State v. Williams were overruled by Bullcoming. He argued that Barton and State v. Williams were overruled by Williams v. Illinois. Griep said that:

> the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Williams v. Illinois overrules the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in State v. Williams, 2002 WI 58, 253 Wis. 2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919, and this Court's decision in State v. Barton, 2006 WI App 18, 289 Wis. 2d 206, 709 N.W.2d 93, to the extent that those cases allowed the admission of out-of-court testimonial statements through expert testimony.

(Griep's Supp. Brief at 9).²

The court of appeals recognized that Griep relied on Williams stating that "Griep argued in his supplemental briefing that Barton was overruled by Williams v. Illinois, because 'five justices . . . explicitly found that the substance of the [underlying] report as introduced through the surrogate witness was offered for the truth of the matter asserted." *Griep*, 353 Wis. 2d 252, ¶ 13.

Although Griep argued in the court of appeals that Barton and State v. Williams were overruled by Williams v. Illinois, and he now claims that he argued in the court of appeals that they were overruled by *Bullcoming*, in his brief to this court Griep has abandoned his argument that Barton and State v. Williams have been overruled. He does not argue that either case has been overruled, or is incorrect in any way.

Instead, he argues that *Barton* and *State v. Williams* do not apply to his case because the facts of his case differ from those cases.

- 16 -

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